THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SEP 17 2018

SC Court of Appeals

Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge
Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Common Pleas Case No. 2017-CP-23-03720

Appellate Case No. 2018-000207

DARRIN VANDER TOORN,

Respondent,

v.

BILLETER RECRUITING,
LLC, and WILLIAM ANCAR,

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Howard W. Anderson III
(S.C. Bar. No. 100329)

LAW OFFICE OF
HOWARD W. ANDERSON III, LLC
P.O. Box 661
Pendleton, SC 29670
howard@hwalawfirm.com
864-643-5790 (p)
Counsel for Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in refusing to set aside the entry of default for Appellants Billeter Recruiting, LLC, and its president William Ancar, especially where the complaint alleged that Mr. Ancar is a disabled veteran?
2. Did the trial court err in entering judgment for \$107,061:
 - a. Where the judgment included damages under the Payment of Wages Act even after the period beginning May 26, 2017, even though Mr. Vander Toorn admitted that he did not perform any labor after that day;
 - b. Where the judgment included damages for commissions without a finding from the trial court that the commissions were actually attributable to labor performed; and
 - c. Where judgment included treble damages that the trial judge erroneously thought were mandatory rather than discretionary under the Payment of Wages Act?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 8, 2017, Respondent Darrin Vander Toorn filed a complaint in the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas against Appellants Billeter Recruiting, LLC; and William Ancar. [R. 16-24]. The Complaint asserted three causes of action: breach of contract, breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent act, and violation of South Carolina's Payment of Wages Act, S.C. Code § 41-10-10. [*Id.*].

On July 12, 2017, on motion of Mr. Vander Toorn, the Circuit Court entered a default for both Billeter Recruiting and Mr. Ancar, because they had not responded to the complaint within thirty days after service. [R. 31; 1].

On September 1, 2017, Mr. Vander Toorn filed a motion for a default judgment for in-chambers consideration. [R. 32]. Circuit Court Judge Robin Stilwell, however, denied the motion in chambers on September 12, 2017. [R. 5].

On October 17, 2017, Appellants filed a motion to set aside their default. [R. 38].

On November 15, 2017, Circuit Court Judge Perry Gravely denied the motion. [R. 7]. Because proper notice of a default damages hearing had not been provided, the judge ordered that a damages hearing be scheduled with proper notice. [*Id.*].

Following a damages hearing held before Circuit Court Judge Edward Miller, the trial court entered a default judgment against Billeter Recruiting and Mr. Ancar for

\$107,061.00 inclusive of fees and costs. [R. 9-14]. Judge Miller’s order was electronically docketed on January 23, 2018. [*Id.*].

Billeter Recruiting and Mr. Ancar served their notice of appeal on January 29, 2018, [R. 46], which they amended on February 21, 2018, [R. 47].

STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL FACTS

I. The Complaint

In the Complaint, Mr. Vander Toorn alleged that Mr. Ancar is “a disabled veteran and operates Billeter Recruiting, LLC, and Billeter Professional Solutions as Service-Disabled Veteran Owned Small Business....” [R. 16 ¶6]. Mr. Ancar serves as Billeter Recruiting’s president. [*Id.* ¶7].

Mr. Vander Toorn alleged that he was hired as Billeter Recruiting’s vice-president pursuant to a six-month written contract, which was attached as an exhibit to the Complaint. [R. 17 ¶10 & 25-30]. His duties under the contract were, among other things, to provide a “Contract And/Or Contracts” with “Fluor-Southern Companies, Fluor-NRG, [and] Day-Zimmermen.” [R. 26]. Under the “compensation” section of the contract, Billeter Recruiting promised to pay Mr. Vander Toorn “a six [-] month salary of \$60,000 payable monthly....” [R. 26 ¶4]. *See also* [R. 17 ¶ 12 (“Under the Agreement, Ancar and Billeter were obligated, among other things, to pay Mr. Vander

Toorn...a salary of \$10,000 per month, to be paid on the 15th of each month....”]). Via a separate item entitled “commission payments,” Billeter Recruiting also promised to “make commission payments to Darrin Vander Toorn based on Gross Profits contracts he provide[s]. This commission will be paid 30 days after the payment of any invoice from a client provided by Darrin Vander Toorn.” [R. 26 ¶5]. The commissions were subject to a schedule, with the commission determined as a percentage of the gross profit of the contracts that “he s[old] for Billeter.” [R. 27 ¶¶5(A)(2-4)]. Furthermore, Mr. Vander Torn would receive a \$12,000 signing bonus, subject to claw back “if no contract is provided within the [term] of this Agreement.” [*Id.* ¶5(A)(1)]. The six-month contract was scheduled to begin on January 3, 2017. [R. 29 ¶12].

According to the Complaint, Mr. Vander Toorn was willfully not paid his May 2017 “salary.” [R. 19]. Instead, Mr. Vander Toorn averred that, on May 26, 2017, he received notice from Mr. Ancar that Mr. Vander Toorn “was ‘suspended’ because Ancar was unable to clear Mr. Vander Toorn from some alleged contract breaches and/or fraud that were under investigation.” [R. 20 ¶29]. Further, Mr. Vander Toorn alleged that his “final payment of \$10,000 [would]...become due and owing June 15, 2017,” [R. 20 ¶30]—one week after Mr. Vander Toorn filed his Complaint and thus not yet owing at the time of filing.

Mr. Vander Toorn alleged that he had tried to resolve his wage claim through a complaint with the South Carolina Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation (“LLR”). [R. 20 ¶32]. In the proceedings there, Mr. Vander Toorn averred that Mr. Ancar had falsely claimed that the \$12,000 signing bonus had been paid in satisfaction of the May 2017 salary obligation. [*Id.*]. The Complaint made no allegation, however, that LLR had determined any improper wage withholding had occurred.¹

II. The Denial of the Motion to Set Aside the Entry of Default

Judge Gravely presided over the hearing on the motion to set aside the default. [R. 7-8]. At the hearing, counsel for Mr. Ancar and Billeter Recruiting argued that Mr. Ancar’s disability, owing to “a traumatic brain injury [from] military service in 2009”, had prevented him from timely responding to the summons that he had received on his own behalf and on behalf of Billeter Recruiting. *See* [R. 50-52]. Counsel explained that Mr. Ancar’s brain injury causes him to experience short-term memory loss, and that it took his wife stumbling across the Summons and Complaint to result in counsel being hired. [R. 57-58].

Counsel for Mr. Ancar and Billeter Recruiting indicated that, if allowed to proceed,

¹ If LLR determines that an employer has wrongfully delayed, withheld, or diverted wages, LLR “must...assess[] a civil penalty of not more than one hundred dollars for each violation.” S.C. Code § 41-10-80(B).

they would raise potential defenses on the merits, including breaches of Mr. Ancar's employment contract and misappropriation of confidential business information. [R. 59-60].

At the hearing, however, Judge Gravely indicated that he would not consider counsel's arguments because they were not supported with affidavits or witness testimony. [R. 56-60]. Judge Gravely's written order denying the motion to set aside the default reiterated that view that affidavits or testimony was required but lacking:

This matter comes before the Court upon Defendant's Motion to Set Aside Default. At the hearing on November 8, 2017, the Defendant's attorney argued that the Default should be set aside because of defendant's health issues and other grounds, but no affidavits or sworn testimony were presented supporting this argument or any other basis to set aside the default. The Court finds that the Defendant failed to show good cause to set aside the Default and the Defendant's Motion is denied. The Plaintiff had filed a Motion for Damages, but it did not appear that proper notice of the hearing had been provided as required by Rule 55, SCRCPP and therefore this Motion shall be rescheduled with notice to all parties.

[R. 7].

III. The Entry of the \$107,061 Default Judgment

The parties appeared for a default damages hearing before Judge Miller. At the beginning of the hearing, Mr. Vander Toorn's counsel advised that he was "proceeding under the cause of action that [he] filed under the South Carolina Payment of Wages Act....", [R. 80], thus abandoning the two other counts alleged in the Complaint.

With respect to the Count under the Payment of Wages Act, Mr. Vander Toorn offered only one witness: himself.²

On his brief direct, he explained that he was seeking (1) \$20,000 in unpaid salary for the months of May and June 2017; (2) unpaid commissions of \$11,051.40 on contracts with “Fluor and Day and Zimmerman,” and (3) prejudgment interest. [R. 81-83]. Collectively those items totaled \$33,767.40 under his calculations. [R. 83]. Although he said that he would like the judge to treble the damages, he did not explain why he felt that he was entitled to that additional \$67,534.80. *See [id.]*.

On cross-examination, Mr. Vander Toorn admitted that, under the terms of his employment, he understood himself to be entitled to his salary on the 15th of each month. [R. 86-87.]. He admitted, however, that Mr. Ancar and Billeter Recruiting suspended him on May 26th. [R. 88-89]. From that date onward, he did not perform any services for Mr. Ancar or Billeter Recruiting. [R. 90-91]. Furthermore, with respect to the commissions on contracts with Fluor that were included in his direct testimony, he was seeking commission on “every single Fluor contract with Billeter regardless of whether [he] was responsible for bringing in that contract or not[.]” [R. 92].

Judge Miller awarded Mr. Vander Toorn everything he asked for at the hearing.

² He also introduced a fee affidavit from his counsel.

Judge Miller explained that he believed himself precluded, in light of the default, from considering Mr. Ancar's and Billeter Recruiting's arguments that Mr. Vander Toorn's unpaid salary was a not "wage" within the meaning of the Payment of Wages Act, that not all of the commissions were attributable to Mr. Ancar, and that the non-payment was not willful. [R. 11-12]. Because Mr. Ancar and Billeter Recruiting "did not object or contest that the Plaintiff had not been paid the sums he testified he was not paid[....,] object or contest that Billeter received the revenues entitling him to commissions....," and could not themselves offer any evidence of good faith, "there is nothing over which this Court must exercise discretion." [R. 12]. Accordingly, Judge Miller approved all the damages sought and ordered them trebled, for a total of \$101,302.20. [*Id.*]. Further, he awarded full fees and costs of \$5,758.80. [*Id.*] Thus, the total default judgment was \$107,061.00.

ARGUMENT

"[C]ourts should closely scrutinize default judgments to prevent harsh results and drastic action. It is the policy of the law to favor the trial of cases on the merits." *Lewis v. Congress of Racial Equality*, 275 S.C. 556, 560 (1981). As shown below, this Court should vacate the order denying Mr. Ancar and Billeter Recruiting's motion to set aside the default. The Court should, alternatively, reverse in part and vacate in part

the damage award in the default judgment.

I. Issue One: The Wrongful Denial of the Motion to Set Aside Default.

A. Standard of Review

This Court will review for an abuse of discretion a denial of a motion to set aside a default. *Sundown Operating Co. v. Intedger Indus.*, 383 S.C. 601, 606 (2009) (citation omitted). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the judge issuing the order was controlled by some error of law or when the order, based upon factual, as distinguished from legal conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” *Id.* (citation omitted).

B. Especially Given that Mr. Ancar Is a Disabled Veteran, Good Cause Existed to Set Aside the Default.

South Carolina public policy “favor[s] the disposition of issues on their merits rather than on technicalities.” *Micronics, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 345 S.C. 506, 511 (Ct. App. 2001) (citations omitted). Because where, as here, a party moves to set aside an entry of default rather than an actual judgment, countervailing considerations of finality do not come into play. *See Sundown*, 383 S.C. at 608 (explaining that the drafters of the Rules of Civil Procedure intentionally chose “to make it more difficult for a party to avoid a default once the court has entered a judgment, which carries greater finality, and often occurs later, than a clerk’s entry of default”). Thus, a default can be set aside for mere “good cause,” R. 55(c), SCRC.P.

Examples of good cause sufficient to explain a default include “mistake, inadvertence, excusable neglect, surprise, newly discovered evidence, fraud, [or] misrepresentation,” but our Supreme Court has specifically held that “[n]o trial court should ever find good cause lacking based solely on the absence” of one of those potential examples. *Sundown*, 383 S.C. at 608.

“Once a party has put forth a satisfactory explanation for the default, the trial court must also consider: (1) the timing of the motion for relief; (2) whether the defendant has a meritorious defense; and (3) the degree of prejudice to the plaintiff if relief is granted.” *Sundown*, 383 S.C. at 607-08.

Here, the trial court committed an “error of law” and thus “abus[ed] [its] discretion,” *id* at 606, when it refused to set aside the default *solely* because Mr. Ancar and Billeter Recruiting had not supported their motions with affidavits or in-court testimony to substantiate Mr. Ancar’s claim of disability. Because the Complaint itself specifically alleged that Mr. Ancar is “a disabled veteran,” [R. 16 ¶6], no further proof is required to establish that fact in the litigation; the allegation is a binding judicial admission. *See, e.g.*, R. 8(d), SCRCPP (“Averments in a pleading to which a responsive pleading is required, other than those as to the amount of damage, are admitted when not denied in the responsive pleading.”).

Because the court below erred at the outset of its analysis, it did not proceed to consider the timing of the motion, the existence of potentially meritorious defenses, and the potential for prejudice to the plaintiff, as *Sundown* requires. 383 S.C. at 608. This Court must, therefore, remand for the trial court to consider them, because remand is not futile as a matter of law. *See, e.g., Wham v. Shearson Lehman Bros., Inc.*, 298 S.C. 462, 465 (Ct. App. 1989) (remanding for the trial court to make findings concerning those factors).

First, the three-month delay between the default and the motion to set aside was short—particularly given that Mr. Ancar and Billeter Recruiting filed their motion to set aside *before* they received “proper notice of [a default damages] hearing...as required by Rule 55, SCRCP.” [R. 7]. *See, e.g., Wham*, 298 S.C. at 463 (remanding for proper good-cause balancing where record showed that the defaulting party moved to set aside default “[u]pon receipt of the notice of [default] hearing”).

Second, potentially meritorious defenses exist given that—as alleged in the Complaint itself—Mr. Ancar said that he had “‘suspended’ [Mr. Vander Toorn] because Ancar was unable to clear Mr. Vander Toorn from some alleged contract breaches and/or fraud that were under investigation.” [R. 20 ¶ 29]. *Futch v. McAllister Towing of Georgetown, Inc.*, 335 S.C. 598, 607-08 (1999) (“The general rule is that an em-

ployee is not entitled to any compensation for services performed during the period he engaged in activities constituting a breach of his duty of loyalty even though part of those services may have been properly performed.” (quotation omitted); *Silver v. Abstract Pools & Spas, Inc.*, 376 S.C. 585, 594 (Ct. App. 2008) (“Where a contract is not performed, the party who is guilty of the first breach is generally the one upon whom all liability for the nonperformance rests.” (quotation omitted)).³ Thus, it is not surprising that the Complaint alleges that Mr. Vander Toorn first turned to LLR for recovery but, given the need to have filed the action, LLR evidently found nothing actionable. *See* [R. 20 ¶ 32].

Finally, as for prejudice to the plaintiff, none exists here. *See generally Johnson v. Dayton Elec. Mfg. Co.*, 140 F.3d 781, 785 (8th Cir. 1998) (“As numerous decisions make clear, prejudice may not be found from delay alone or from the fact that the defaulting party will be permitted to defend on the merits.” (citations omitted)).

³ The bar for what qualifies a sufficiently “meritorious” is quite low:

A meritorious defense need not be perfect nor one which can be guaranteed to prevail at a trial. It need be only one which is worthy of a hearing or judicial inquiry because it raises a question of law deserving of some investigation and discussion or a real controversy as to real facts arising from conflicting or doubtful evidence.

Graham v. Loris, 272 S.C. 442, 453 (1978) (citation omitted).

Because the court below committed an error of law, this Court should vacate the order denying the motion to set aside the entry of default.

II. Issue Two: The Excessive \$107,061 Default Judgment

A. Standard of Review

On review of the amount of actual damages, this Court reviews for errors of law and asks whether any evidence supports the amount awarded. *E.g.*, *Oaks at Rivers Edge Prop. Owners Ass'n v. Daniel Island Riverside Developers, LLC*, 420 S.C. 424, 446 (Ct. App. 2017) (citation omitted). But because the decision as to whether to impose treble damages under the Payment of Wages Act is one that sounds in equity, this Court is entitled to “take its own view of the facts” as to the propriety of any trebling. *O’Neal v. Intermedical Hosp.*, 355 S.C. 499, 510 (Ct. App. 2003) (citation omitted) (reversing award of treble damages under the Payment of Wages Act).

B. No Evidence Supports Damages for any Salary After May 26, 2017, Because Mr. Vander Toorn Admitted That He Did Not Perform any Labor.

While Mr. Ancar’s and Billeter Recruiting’s failure to answer the Complaint is deemed an admission of the facts alleged in it, those deemed admissions do not extend “to the amount of damage.” R. 8(d), SCRCPP. A defendant’s default thus never excuses a plaintiff from proving the amount of his damages. *Renney*, 275 S.C. at 567 (“Whether a defendant is or is not in default, it is incumbent upon the judge and/or the jury to

make a judicial determination of the amount recoverable based on the proof.”).

By proceeding only under the Payment of Wages Act, Mr. Vander Toorn was limited to collecting those amounts that he could show were unpaid “wages.” S.C. Code § 41-10-80(D). And “wages” are statutorily defined to be only those reflecting payment for “labor rendered.” S.C. Code § 41-10-10(2). Thus, where no labor is actually rendered, no “wages” are owed (and thus cannot be trebled). *See Matthews v. City of Greenwood*, 305 S.C. 267, 272 (Ct. App. 2001) (holding that paid leave for military service for public employees falls outside the Payment of Wages Act because “it is not recompense for work rendered...at all.”).

Here, Mr. Vander Toorn conceded that he did not perform any services after May 26, 2017. [R. 90 (testifying that “[t]here’s no provision for a suspension, so not providing services was not my call); R. 90-91 (“Q ... [A]fter May 26th when the suspension, again right, wrong, or indifferent was given to you, you no longer provided any services to the Defendants; is that correct? A I wasn’t asked to.”)]. Nonetheless, the court below awarded Mr. Vander Toorn his full salary for the months of May and June 2017. [R. 10]. It was error to have done so; proration was required beginning May 26.

It was also error to have deemed the June \$10,000 payment as damages recoverable

under the Wage Payment Act for another reason. At the time Mr. Vander Toorn filed his Complaint, the June payment was not yet even arguably due. Thus, no damages can be owed under the Act—under the facts as alleged in the Complaint—with respect to the June payment. Compare [R. 20 ¶ 30 (“Mr. Vander Toorn’s final payment of \$10,000.00 will...become due and owing June 15, 2017”)], with [R. 23 ¶52 (“Billeter and Ancar have failed to pay wages as set forth above and have therefore committed violations of the Act.”)]. See generally *Masters v. Rodgers Dev. Group*, 283 S.C. 251, 254 (Ct. App. 1984) (“A party seeking a default judgment is entitled to only such relief as is framed by his pleading. . . . It follows that if a complaint fails to state a cause of action, the rendering of a default judgment thereon is without authority of law and therefore reversible error.” (quotation omitted)).

Accordingly, this Court should reverse the damage award (including trebled damages) for the period following May 26, 2017.⁴

C. A Remand Is Required for the Trial Court to Determine Which Commissions from Fluor Resulted from Mr. Ancar’s Labor.

As indicated above, the Payment of Wages Act only authorizes recovery of damag-

⁴ The \$10,000 wage for May comes to \$322.58 per day. A five-day reduction equals \$1,612.90, which when trebled equals \$4,838.71. The \$10,000 unearned June wage, when trebled, equals \$30,000. A reduction of at least \$31,612.90 is thus required for this error.

es for unpaid amounts resulting from “labor rendered.” S.C. Code § 41-10-10(2). At the hearing, Mr. Ancar testified that his unpaid commission figure included commissions on every Fluor contract “regardless of whether [he] was responsible for bringing in the that contract or not[.]” [R. 92]. Judge Miller, however, wrongly believed that he was precluded from considering whether Mr. Vander Toorn had proven that the commissions at issue were the result of Mr. Vander Toorn’s labor. *See* [R. 12]. The sine qua non of a damage award under the Payment of Wages Act is the amount of labor actually rendered to the employer. *See Masters* 283 S.C. at 254.

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