**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge
Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Common Pleas Case No. 2017-CP-23-03720

Appellate Case No. 2018-000207

DARRIN VANDER TOORN,

Respondent,

v.

BILLETER RECRUITING, LLC
and WILLIAM ANCAR

Appellants.

RECEIVED
OCT 15 2018
SC Court of Appeals

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Peter A. Rutledge
(SC Bar 15899)
Rutledge Law, LLC
66 Faris Circle
Greenville, SC 29605
peter@prutlaw.com
(864) 906-2521
Counsel for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court held the Appellants in default, because they offered no evidence of "good cause," and because even the argument of counsel, which in any case could not be considered, did not establish good cause.

The decision whether to set aside an entry of default lies solely within the sound discretion of the circuit court. *Regions Bank v. Owens*, 402 S.C. 642, 647, 741 S.E.2d 51, 54 (Ct. App. 2013). The circuit court's decision will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of that discretion. *Id.* An abuse of discretion occurs when the judgment is controlled by some error of law or when the order, based upon factual, as distinguished from legal conclusions, is without evidentiary support. *Id.*

Rule 55(a), SCRPC, provides that when a party fails to respond to a complaint, the clerk shall record an entry of default. However, Rule 55(c), SCRPC, permits a party to move to set aside the entry of default. The standard for granting relief from an entry of default under Rule 55(c) is mere "good cause." "This standard requires a party seeking relief from an entry of default under

Rule 55(c) to provide an explanation for the default and give reasons why vacation of the default entry would serve the interests of justice.” *Regions Bank v. Owens*, 402 S.C. 642, 648, 741 S.E.2d 51, 54 (Ct. App. 2013) citing *Sundown Operating Co. v. Intedg Indus., Inc.*, 383 S.C. 601, 607, 681 S.E.2d 885, 888 (2009). “Once a party has put forth a satisfactory explanation for the default, the trial court must also consider: (1) the timing of the motion for relief; (2) whether the defendant has a meritorious defense; and (3) the degree of prejudice to the plaintiff if relief is granted.” *Id.* at 607–08, 681 S.E.2d at 888 (citing *Wham v. Shearson Lehman Bros., Inc.*, 298 S.C. 462, 465, 381 S.E.2d 499, 501–02 (Ct.App.1989)). “The trial court need not make specific findings of fact for each factor if there is sufficient evidentiary support on the record for the finding of the lack of good cause.” *Id.* “(emphasis added) A motion under Rule 55(c) is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court.” *Id.*

Here, the trial court was left with no choice but to hold Appellants in default: they did not offer evidence. Note how many times the Court invited Appellants to offer competent evidence. **(Transcript, November 8, 2017, pp.8-10; 11-13: R. pp.56-8)**. Even after the hearing, the evidence Appellants represented to the Court *would be forthcoming* never came. Neither did Appellants renew a motion to set aside the default with evidence. It is axiomatic that “argument of counsel is not a substitute for evidence.” *Passailaigue v. Kuznik*, No. 2015-000044, 2016 WL 3511875, at *2 (S.C. Ct. App. June 22, 2016) citing *Brown v. Johnson*, 276 S.C. 68, 71–72, 275 S.E.2d 876, 878 (1981).

Here, there were no facts in the record to support Appellants’ motion to set aside the default. Undaunted, counsel for Appellants suggested that good cause existed to set aside the default, because after being duly served on behalf of Billeter and himself, Mr. Ancar imagined a telephone conversation with an unnamed lawyer who may or may not have given assurances that

an Answer would be filed in South Carolina on their behalf. (**Motion to Set Aside Default, October 17, 2017: R. pp.38-45**). Counsel did not indicate what really, if anything, Mr. Ancar did with the suit papers that were served upon him—other than they were lost until his wife “stumbled across them.” (**Id.**) It does not appear that Mr. Ancar arranged for copies of the lawsuit to be provided to anyone at all. (**Id.**) And Appellants admitted that the unnamed lawyer denies the telephone conversation even occurred. (**Id.**)

A review of relevant precedent makes clear that good cause is entirely lacking. In *Regions Bank v. Owens*, 402 S.C. 642, 648, 741 S.E.2d 51, 54 (Ct. App. 2013), Owens failed to answer a foreclosure action filed against him and other co-defendants, under the mistaken belief that one of his co-defendants would file an answer on his behalf. Owens testified that he telephoned co-defendant Roland Paddy upon receiving the Summons and Complaint, whom he said misled him into believing he (Paddy) “would take care of it.” 402 S.C. 642, 649, 741 S.E.2d 51, 55. Paddy held power of attorney for him regarding the property in question. *Id.*

The South Carolina Court of appeals upheld the Master’s decision to deny the motion to set aside default, because good cause was lacking, and held:

We find evidence in the record supports the master's finding Owens did not show good cause for failing to answer the complaint. While Owens testified he contacted Paddy after receiving the complaint and Paddy told him he had hired an attorney and would “take care of it,” Paddy disputed this characterization. Paddy testified he never told Owens he had hired an attorney to represent him and file an answer on his behalf. Furthermore, Owens presented no evidence he took any steps to protect himself by contacting either Paddy or *649 Paddy's attorney to **55 confirm an answer would be filed on his behalf. *See Hill v. Dotts*, 345 S.C. 304, 310, 547 S.E.2d 894, 897 (Ct. App. 2001) (holding “a party has a duty to monitor the progress of his case. Lack of familiarity with legal proceedings is unacceptable and the court will not hold a layman to any lesser standard than is applied to an attorney.”).

Id. The showing Appellants attempted are strikingly similar here. Mr. Ancar argues he was misled into the mistaken belief that someone else would file an Answer on his behalf and his company’s

behalf because of a telephone call. (**Motion to Set Aside Default, October 17, 2017: R. pp.38-45**). However, Mr. Owens was unable to persuade the Court of Appeals with the same argument. More importantly, even had Mr. Ancar been misled that his own lawyer would hire South Carolina counsel to file an Answer, good cause would still be lacking: the *Regions Bank* Court noted that “[t]he courts of this state have consistently held that the negligence of an attorney or insurance company is imputable to a defaulting litigant.” *Id.* From that long-standing precedent, the Master had reasoned that “[i]f reliance on one's own attorney is insufficient to show ‘good cause,’ then reliance on another defendant and *his* attorney is equally insufficient.”

Applied here, the operative logic suggests the following: If reliance on one’s own attorney is insufficient to show good cause, reliance on an imagined telephone call with one’s own attorney is equally insufficient. Mr. Ancar’s lawyer argues that he has short term memory problems, not that he is delusional. *See also Williams v. Vanvolkenburg*, 312 S.C. 373, 375, 440 S.E.2d 408, 409 (Ct. App. 1994) (holding “whether the Stalnakers failed to ask their attorney to file an answer or whether the attorney was negligent in failing to answer, however, is not critical, because even if the attorney were negligent in failing to answer the Complaint, his negligence would be imputed to the Stalnakers.”); *Richardson v. P.V., Inc.*, 383 S.C. 610, 618–19, 682 S.E.2d 263, 267 (2009) (imputing negligence of an insurance company or attorney to a defaulting litigant—does not constitute good cause); *White Oak Manor, Inc. v. Lexington Ins. Co.*, 407 S.C. 1, 7, 753 S.E.2d 537, 540 (2014) (losing the pleadings not good cause under Rule 55).

Finally, even were there competent evidence in the record to substantiate an underlying disability that affects Mr. Ancar’s short term memory (there is not), that should not permit him an excuse. Rather, he should be expected to employ remedial measures to accommodate any alleged disability, especially because he is allegedly a disabled veteran and operates Billeter Recruiting,

LLC, and Billeter Professional Solutions as Service-Disabled Veteran Owned Small Businesses under applicable rules.” See Complaint, paragraph 6. *Accord, Stark Truss Co. v. Superior Const. Corp.*, 360 S.C. 503, 510, 602 S.E.2d 99, 102 (Ct. App. 2004) (president had no good reason, other than depression, for failing to act when he was served with the summons and complaint). Good cause is lacking.

Finally, Appellants desperately seek to leverage an allegation in the Complaint, that “Ancar is upon information and belief a disabled veteran and operates Billeter Recruiting, LLC, and Billeter Professional Solutions as Service-Disabled Veteran Owned Small Businesses under applicable rules. ...” as meeting Appellants’ burden of proof. This is, of course, a red herring. First, this argument was not raised below. More importantly, as an allegation in a Complaint, it does not come close to meeting Appellants’ burden to demonstrate “good cause.” Absent from the Complaint are any allegations regarding Mr. Ancar’s particular disability (his company’s status as a Service-Disabled Veteran Owned Small Business does not disclose his actual disability). Moreover, nowhere in the Complaint (to say nothing of any competent evidence) are there either allegations or competent evidence regarding Mr. Ancar’s physical or mental limitations or how they affect his major life activities. Rather, paragraph 6 of the Complaint is an allegation regarding one of the parties’ corporate status. Were there such evidence, the case law cited above would pose exactly the same hurdles.

Because good cause is lacking, the trial court correctly held the Appellants in default.

II. The trial court correctly entered judgment for \$107,06: by operation of default, under the Payment of Wages Act, Appellants admitted that the monthly installments were due Respondent under an employment agreement, that commissions were due Respondent under that employment agreement, and that the failure to pay was willful, requiring treble damages and attorneys’ fees.

At the hearing, Respondent advised the Court that he sought damages under his Payment of Wages Act Cause of Action against both Appellants, Billeter Recruiting, LLC (“Billeter”) and William Ancar (“Ancar”). **(Transcript, December 5, 2017: R. p.80, ln. 5-p.85, ln.4)**. Respondent testified under oath that he was employed by Appellants Billeter and Ancar under an Employment Agreement that promised Sixty-Thousand (\$60,000) Dollars, a Twelve Thousand (\$12,000) Dollar signing bonus, together with commissions equaling ten (10%) percent of the gross revenues from clients listed in the Employment Agreement. Sixty-Thousand Dollar contract price. The Sixty-Thousand Dollar contract price was to be paid in equal amounts of Ten Thousand (\$10,000) Dollars per month, on the 15th of each month. **(Id.)** Importantly, the Sixty-Thousand Dollar contract price depended on Respondent’s procuring revenues to Appellants from certain customers, not on “performing labor” as Appellant’s mistakenly suggest. **(Id.)** The Employment Agreement is an exhibit to the Complaint and the compensation terms appear in paragraph 4 thereto. The signing bonus and commissions appear in paragraph 5.

Respondent testified that he had not been paid the May 2017 payment of \$10,000 and the June payment of 10,000. **(Id.)**. Respondent testified, based on documents he reviewed both while he was employed and thereafter, including a text message from Ancar, emails from customers, and documents received from a subpoena issued in this action, that revenues to Billeter for which he is entitled to commissions amount to \$110,514. **(Id.)**. Counsel for Appellants conceded they do not dispute these revenues. **(Id.)**. Respondent testified that he is entitled to commissions in the amount of \$11,051.40. **(Id.)**.

By operation of the default, Appellants admitted that the monthly installments were due, that the commissions were due, and that their failure to pay was willful. This is true because were it not the case, there would be no practical effect of a Default. *See Roche v. Young Bros., Inc., of*

Florence, 332 S.C. 75, 81, 504 S.E.2d 311, 314 (1998) (“It is well settled that by suffering a default, the defaulting party is deemed to have admitted the truth of the plaintiff’s allegations and to have conceded liability.”). Here, Appellants did not object to or contest that Respondent had not been paid the sums he testified he was not paid. Appellants did not object to or contest that Billeter received the revenues entitling Respondent to the commissions to which he testified; instead they conceded those were accurate revenues. **(Transcript, December 5, 2017: R. pp.76-100; Default Judgment January 23, 2018: R. pp.9-14)**. And as far as Respondent’s well-pled allegations of willfulness are concerned, Appellants were not permitted to offer defenses to liability at a damages hearing in the first place, and their Default is deemed an admission of those allegations in any case. *Limehouse v. Hulsey*, 404 S.C. 93, 744 S.E.2d 566 (2013) (“It is well settled law in South Carolina that a defendant’s participation in a damages hearing following default judgment is limited to cross-examination and objection to *plaintiff’s* evidence.”). As a result, concerning willfulness, there was nothing over which this Court could or should have exercised discretion, and a trebling of the award and an award of attorneys’ fees was therefore appropriate.

All of Appellant’s arguments regarding the judgment are merits arguments, foreclosed by their defaulting in this lawsuit. Their arguments about whether labor was performed entitling Respondent to the June installment and related commissions are also misdirection, ***both factually and because of the default***: Respondent testified under oath and based on the employment agreement that the amounts pled in the Complaint were owed:

A: I think all services that were asked of me were provided, yes.

(Transcript, December 5, 2017, p.15: R. p.92, ln.2-8).

Q: So it’s your position here today that the contract that was entered into on January 3d allowed you to collect on every single Fluor contract with Billeter regardless of whether you were responsible for bringing in that contract or not?

A: Correct. Everything that came in from Fluor came in on my behalf. **(Id.)**.

Respondent went on to testify that the revenues that were generated from Texas, for example, those that Respondent claimed in the lawsuit, were new work that Appellants had not before generated. **(Transcript, December 5, 2017, p.17: R. p.92)**. With wide latitude from the trial court, Appellants' counsel continued to pick around the edges, to no avail:

Q: But I'm asking, you are aware that this was a pre-existing contract, the NRG contract was a contract that Billeter had prior to you becoming an employee of --

A: All contracts within Fluor expire every year, so that one you're talking about in 2016 would have expired and it was renewed based upon my efforts, yes.

(Transcript, December 5, 2017, p.18: R. p. 93). Appellants' line of questioning consistently went to the merits, *not to the damages or to challenging Respondent's calculations*, which was made clear by counsel for Appellants:

MR. PURIEFOY: As to the Commission payments, Your Honor. Although we would submit that those commissions were absolutely not brought in by Mr. Vander Toorn, those numbers are what the numbers are and we're not going to dispute the amounts that were brought in under those contracts.

(Transcript, December 5, 2017, p.23: R. p.98). Thus, Appellants conceded, both by operation of the default, and by their participation in the damages hearing, that all amounts claimed were in fact due and owing.

The trial court entered judgment against Appellants in the amount of One Hundred Seven Thousand Sixty-One and zero 100ths **(\$107,061.00)**, Dollars, together with post-judgment interest on the sum total thereof accruing hereafter at the maximum legal rate.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should affirm the order denying the motion to set aside default as well as the Judgment by Default.